UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-28-2013

Dixey v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40323

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the district court's judgment dismissing Mr. Clyde Owen Dixey's successive petition for post-conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing.

B. General Course of Proceedings

1. Underlying criminal proceedings

The state accused Mr. Dixey of two counts of burglary – one for allegedly entering a building at Ogden's Tires in Blackfoot with the intent to commit theft on September 29, 2006 and another for entering a building at Ogden's Tires on November 17, 2006. *State v. Dixey*, Bingham County Case No. CR-2006-11126,¹ Jury Trial Transcript (Trial Tr.), p. 66, ln. 25 - p. 67, ln. 21. At trial, an Odgen's employee testified that one afternoon in late September 2006, he was driving a vehicle behind the business on his way to throw out junk tires when he observed a primer grey, 1970s Chevy pickup by a warehouse. Trial Tr. p. 73, ln. 1-21; p. 87, ln. 11-16; p. 89, ln. 1-5. The employee testified that he observed an "older Native American" from 25 to 30 yards away throwing a tire into the pickup. *Id.* at p. 73, ln. 22 - p. 74, ln. 6. The employee asked the person what he was doing and, instead of answer, the person dropped a tire, got in his truck and left. *Id.* at p. 74, ln. 7-14. The employee recorded the truck's license plate number and later provided it to police. *Id.* at p. 75, ln. 8-20.

The employee testified that during a mid afternoon in November, he was going out back

¹ Contemporaneous with this brief, Mr. Dixey is filing a motion to augment the instant appellate record with various documents from his initial petition for post-conviction relief, *Dixey v. State*, Bingham County Case No. CV-2008-2750, and the underlying criminal case, *State v. Dixey*, Bingham County Case No. CR-2006-11126, which were relied on by the district court in dismissing the case.

for a cigarette with another employee when he observed the truck pull up to another building. *Id.* at p. 76, ln. 3-13; p. 87, ln. 17-20. The employee testified that a Native American individual "had just stepped out the door of the warehouse back towards" the same pickup he had observed in September and he went in to notify the store's owner that the "same guy" was back. *Id.* at p. 76, ln. 5-19; p. 83, ln. 10-19. The employee identified Mr. Dixey as the person at the tire store in September and November based on his "long ponytail hair and build." *Id.* at p. 77, ln. 11 - p. 78, ln. 6.

Another Ogden Tire employee testified that he had gone out the back door of the store when he observed Mr. Dixey by a primer grey pickup parked near a warehouse. *Id.* at p. 94, ln. 7-21. The employee asked what Mr. Dixey was doing and he replied that he wanted to trade some tires. *Id.* at p. 94, ln. 21-25; p. 95, ln. 18-21. On the employee's instruction, Mr. Dixey pulled the pickup around to the front of the store. *Id.* at p. 95, ln. 18-21; p. 106, ln. 5-9. The owner went outside and observed that the tires in Mr. Dixey's pickup did not belong to his store. *Id.* at p. 106, ln. 12-17. Mr. Dixey exited the pickup and asked the owner if he would like to purchase some tires. *Id.* at p. 5-7. The owner turned to the first employee and asked whether Mr. Dixey was the "same guy" and Mr. Dixey left. *Id.* at p. 107, ln. 9-25.

Mr. Dixey testified in his defense and explained that he went to Lew Schwab Tires in November 2006 to inquire about trading in some tires. Les Schawb did not have the size he needed and suggested going to Odgen's Tires. *Id.* at p. 118, ln. 17 - p. 119, ln. 1. Mr. Dixey then went to Ogden's Tires and inquired about a trade in. *Id.* at p. 119, ln. 1-25. The owner of Odgen Tires' responded to Mr. Dixey's inquiry by yelling that they do not trade in tires and asking where Mr. Dixey got the tires. *Id.* at p. 120, ln. 25 - p. 3. Mr. Dixey concluded Odgen's was not amenable to trading the tires and left. *Id.* at p. 121, ln. 3-14. Mr. Dixey testified that he did not go to Ogden's Tires in September 2006 and was not using the primer grey pickup at that time and, instead, began using it mid-October. *Id.* at p. 121, ln. 18 - p. 122, ln. 17; p. 124, ln. 3-8. Mr. Dixey testified that he did not enter the warehouse and did not have any intent to steal when he was at Odgen's Tires in November, 2006. *Id.* at p. 119, ln. 14-16; p. 122, ln. 22 - p. 123, ln. 2.

The jury found Mr. Dixey guilty of both burglary counts and the district court sentenced Mr. Dixey to concurrent unified terms of eight years with minimum periods of confinement of four years. R. 97-98. The sentences were initially suspended and then imposed after a probation violation and relinquishment recommendation following a period of retained jurisdiction. *Id.* at 98.

2. **Post-conviction proceedings**

On November 18, 2008, Mr. Dixey filed a pro se petition for post-conviction relief in which he hand-wrote his claims on a pre-printed form. CV-2008-2750, Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. Mr. Dixey described various difficulties with his trial attorney, including her derogatory treatment toward him and her failure to vigorously defend his case. *Id.* at p. 1-4, Unnumbered Affidavit. Mr. Dixey wrote that he "did not know that [he] could file this petition [himself until] by chance [he] called appelate [sic] court in Boise" to inquire about the status of his case. *Id.* at p. 4. Counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Dixey in post-conviction proceedings and Mr. Dixey explained to the attorney that trial counsel failed to investigate and present evidence demonstrating that he did not own or drive the primer-grey pickup until October 2006 and that the pickup's previous owner matched the description of the Native American seen at Odgen's Tire in September 2006. R. 5-7.

3

Despite being informed that trial counsel failed to develop this critical defense, postconviction counsel failed to investigate the claim or include it in his amended petition. R. 7; *see also* R. 45-46. Instead, counsel simply alleged that Mr. Dixey "does not feel his attorney asked him adequate questions on the stand to allow him to adequately present his side of the story while testifying." CV-2008-2750, Second Amended Post-Conviction Petition, p. 5. Post-conviction counsel noted that trial counsel cut off Mr. Dixey during direct examination and instructed him to only answer the questions asked. CV-2008-2750, Response to Motion for Summary Disposition, p. 4. Post-conviction counsel alleged that this conduct prevented Mr. Dixey from explaining to the jury that he was not in Blackfoot during September 2006 as he had just been placed on misdemeanor probation and was starting school at Idaho State University. *Id.* Post-conviction counsel failed to further explain the ownership issues with the primer grey pickup in question, including that the pickup's owner fit the description of the perpetrator. *See id.*

The district court dismissed Mr. Dixey's ineffective assistance of counsel claim concerning the failure to adequately question him on the stand. The district court noted that during Mr. Dixey's direct examination, trial counsel inquired whether he owned the primer grey pickup in September 2006. CV-2008-2750, Order Granting in Part Summary Disposition, p. 22. Mr. Dixey responded that he did not believe so and that around that time he was "doing court in Pocatello," at which point trial counsel interrupted and instructed him to only answer the questions presented. *Id.* The district court concluded that trial counsel's conduct in preventing Mr. Dixey from elaborating on his misdemeanor matters in Pocatello in front of the jury was reasonable. *Id.*

Mr. Dixey thereafter filed a successive petition for post-conviction relief alleging that

4

post-conviction counsel inadequately presented his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and call potential defense witnesses. R. 5. Mr. Dixey explained that he informed trial counsel of an "alibi" – specifically that he did not purchase the primer grey truck at issue until late October 2006 and that the previous owner of the vehicle closely resembled Mr. Dixey. R. 5-6. Thus, while the petition references an "alibi," Mr. Dixey was clearly describing trial counsel's failure to develop the prior owner of the vehicle as an alternate perpetrator and to corroborate Mr. Dixey's testimony that he did not own the vehicle in question when it was seen at Odgen's Tires in late September 2006. *See* R. 5-7

Mr. Dixey supported his successive petition with a neighbor's affidavit, who averred that he knew that the primer grey pickup was owned by Margaret Crumbley in September 2006 and that her son, Michael, used the pickup on a regular basis during that time. R. 21. The neighbor further averred that in mid-October 2006, he informed Mr. Dixey that the Crumbleys wished to sell the vehicle and that he observed Mr. Dixey with that pickup after October 26, 2006. Mr. Dixey included the affidavit of the individual who accompanied him to the Crumbley's to purchase the pickup on October 26, 2006. R. 17.

Mr. Dixey also attached a print-out from the Department of Transportation showing a photograph of Michael Crumley with long, dark hair and indicating he was five feet eleven inches in height. R. 19. The neighbor's affidavit also alleged that Michael Crumbley was a six foot husky man in his late forty's with long dark brown hair that he sometimes wore in a ponytail. R. 21. Police reports attached to the successive petition describe the September 2006 suspect as a stocky, six-foot tall Native American with a long ponytail and that the pickup was registered to Margaret Crumbley. R. 31-33.

In the verified successive petition, Mr. Dixey alleged that he informed post-conviction counsel how trial counsel failed to present the issues surrounding the prior ownership of the pickup. R. 6-7; *see also* R. 43-44. Post-conviction counsel nevertheless failed to allege that Mr. Dixey received ineffective assistance of counsel due to trial counsel's failure to call witnesses corroborating that Mr. Dixey did not own the pickup at issue during the relevant time frame and that the pickup's owner met the description of the suspect at Odgen's Tire in September 2006. R. 7. Mr. Dixey argued that post-conviction counsel's failure to include this claim after being informed of its factual basis was ineffective and, thus, he had presented sufficient reason to bring the claim in a successive petition pursuant to I.C. § 19-4908. R. 45-46.

The state moved to summarily dismiss Mr. Dixey's successive petition. R. At the hearing on the state's motion, the district court expressed concern that no materials had been filed in response to the summary judgment motion. Tr. p. 3, ln. 23-25. Post-conviction counsel declined the state and district court's offer to provide additional time and represented that he was prepared to proceed. *Id.* at p. 4, ln. 23 - p. 7, ln. 8. With respect to the "alibi" claim, counsel argued that there was an issue of material fact precluding dismissal although he admitted he did not "know all the details there." *Id.* at p. 5, ln. 13-19; p. 17, ln. 13-15. Counsel then waived the remainder of the claims Mr. Dixey raised in his successive petition. *Id.* at p. 17, ln. 23 - p. 21, ln. 10; *see also* R. p. 96. The district court dismissed Mr. Dixey's petition, finding that he failed to present sufficient reason justifying a successive post-conviction action. R. 103. This appeal follows.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Did the district court err in summarily dismissing Mr. Dixey's successive petition for post-

conviction relief because he presented an issue of material fact as to whether post-conviction counseled was ineffective for failing to present and support his claim that trial counsel should have corroborated that Mr. Dixey did not own the pickup and that the pickup's owner fit the description of the perpetrator of the September 2006 incident?

IV. ARGUMENT

The District Court Erred in Summarily Dismissing Mr. Dixey's Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief Because He Presented an Issue of Material Fact as to Whether Post-Conviction Counsel was Ineffective for Failing to Present and Support His Claim That Trial Counsel Should Have Corroborated That Mr. Dixey Did Not Own the Pickup and Presented Evidence That the Pickup's Owner Fit the Description of the Perpetrator of the September 2006 Incident

At trial, Mr. Dixey testified that he did not own the pickup in question in September 2006 and was not at Odgen's Tires on September 29, 2006. Trial counsel failed to present available evidence corroborating that Mr. Dixey did not own the pickup until late October and identifying the pickup's previous driver as an individual matching the description of the September 2006 suspect. Providing the jury with an alternate perpetrator would have significantly bolstered Mr. Dixey's explanation that he was not at the tire store in September and, in November, he was simply trying to trade in some tires. Particularly because the tire store employee observed the September suspect from a distance of twenty-five to thirty yards, there is a reasonable probability that the jury would not have returned guilty verdicts if it had heard evidence concerning the pickup ownership issues.

As alleged in his successive post-conviction petition, Mr. Dixey informed the attorney appointed to represent him in the first post-conviction action that he did not own the pickup in question until late October 2006 and that the person who was using that pickup during September

7

matched the description of the person seen at Odgen's Tire on September 2006. Post-conviction counsel nonetheless, failed to include or support this claim and, instead, only argued that trial counsel should have allowed Mr. Dixey to explain that he was not in Blackfoot during September because he was on misdemeanor probation and attending school.

The materials presented by Mr. Dixey prior to the appointment of counsel present issues of material fact as to whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance with respect to the pickup ownership evidence and whether post-conviction counsel was ineffective for not including and supporting this claim after Mr. Dixey informed him of its basis. Although counsel appointed to represent Mr. Dixey in this action failed to effectively or accurately argue this claim to the district court, he did not waive it. Accordingly, the district court erred in summarily dismissing Mr. Dixey's successive petition and the case should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing.

A. Applicable Standard

An application for post-conviction relief initiates a proceeding which is civil in nature. *Sparks v. State,* 140 Idaho 292, 295, 92 P.3d 542, 545 (Ct. App. 2004). Summary dismissal of a post-conviction action, either upon motion of the court or the state, is permissible only when the applicant's evidence has raised no genuine issue of material fact that, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle him to the requested relief. *Goodwin v. State,* 138 Idaho 269, 272, 61 P. 3d 626, 629 (Ct. App. 2002). If such a factual issue is presented, an evidentiary hearing must be conducted. *Sparks,* 140 Idaho at 295, 92 P.3d at 545.

On review of a dismissal of a post-conviction relief action without an evidentiary hearing, the appellate court determines whether a genuine issue of fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions and admissions together with any affidavits on file. *State v. LePage*, 138 Idaho 803, 807, 69 P.3d 1064, 1068 (Ct. App. 2003). Moreover, the appellate court liberally construes the facts and reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party. *Goodwin*, 138 Idaho at 272, 61 P.3d at 629; *Ricca v. State*, 124 Idaho 894, 896, 865 P.2d 985, 987 (Ct. App. 1993).

The right of a criminal defendant to counsel during trial is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 13 of the Idaho Constitution. *See Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, (1963); *Milburn v. State*, 130 Idaho 649, 652, 946 P.2d 71, 74 (Ct. App. 1997). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel may properly be brought under the post-conviction procedure act. *Martinez v. State*, 143 Idaho 789, 795, 152 P.3d 1237, 1243 (Ct. App. 2007); *Murray v. State*, 121 Idaho 918, 924-25, 828 P.2d 1323, 1329-30 (Ct. App. 1992). A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel will prevail if he shows that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and, that (2) counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

A defendant meets the deficiency prong when counsel's performance falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Mitchell v. State*, 132 Idaho 274, 277, 971 P.2d 727, 730 (1998); *Aragon v. State*, 114 Idaho 758, 760, 760 P.2d 1174, 1176 (1988). As a general matter, this Court will not attempt to second-guess counsel's strategic and tactical choices. *State v. Elison*, 135 Idaho 546, 551, 21 P.3d 483, 488 (2001). Nonetheless, this rule does not apply to counsel's decisions that are the result of inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law, or other shortcomings capable of objective evaluation. *Id.* The prejudice prong is met when the defendant shows there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. *Aragon*, 114 Idaho at 761, 760 P.2d at 1177; *Mitchell*, 132 Idaho at 277, 971 P.2d at 730.

9

B. Mr. Dixey Presented an Issue of Fact as to Whether Post-Conviction Counsel's Ineffective Assistance Presented Sufficient Reason Justifying a Successive Petition

A ground for post-conviction relief may be raised in a successive petition if the court finds "sufficient reason" explaining why the ground "was not asserted or was inadequately raised in the original, supplemental, or amended application." I.C. § 19-4908. This statute "does not prohibit successive petitions for postconviction relief in every case, but rather, only prohibits successive petitions in those cases where the petitioner 'knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently' waived the grounds for which he now seeks relief, or offers no 'sufficient reason' for the omission of those grounds" in the initial post-conviction action. Palmer v. Dermitt, 102 Idaho 591, 593, 635 P.2d 955, 957 (1981). Several Idaho cases have noted that deficient representation by counsel in an initial post-conviction proceeding, that causes a claim to be inadequately presented to the court, constitutes a "sufficient reason" to allow assertion of the same claim in a subsequent post-conviction petition pursuant to I.C. § 19-4908. See Palmer, 102 Idaho at 595-96, 635 P.2d at 959-60; Schwartz v. State, 145 Idaho 186, 189, 177 P.3d 400, 403 (Ct. App. 2008); Griffin v. State, 142 Idaho 438, 441, 128 P.3d 975, 978 (Ct. App. 2006); Baker v. State, 142 Idaho 411, 420, 128 P.3d 948, 957 (Ct. App. 2005); Hernandez v. State, 133 Idaho 794, 798-800, 992 P.2d 789, 793-95 (Ct. App. 1999); Wolfe v. State, 113 Idaho 337, 339, 743 P.2d 990, 992 (Ct. App. 1987). This construction of the statute is necessary because "failing to provide a post-conviction applicant with a meaningful opportunity to have his or her claims presented may be violative of due process." See Schwartz, 145 Idaho at 189, 177 P.3d at 403, citing Hernandez, 133 Idaho at 799, 992 P.2d at 794; see also Abbott v. State, 129 Idaho 381, 385, 924 P.2d 1225, 1229 (Ct. App. 1996); Mellinger v. State, 113 Idaho 31, 35, 740 P.2d 73, 77 (Ct. App. 1987) (Burnett, J.,

concurring).

The district court dismissed Mr. Dixey's successive petition because it found his "alibi defense" had been raised in his original petition and concluded he "waived his ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel claim with regard to ownership of the grey truck." R. 106 However, the specific issue raised in the successive petition – that trial counsel should have presented evidence regarding the pickup's previous owner – was not addressed in the initial proceedings. Further, Mr. Dixey argued that he should be allowed to litigate trial counsel's failure to raise the pickup ownership issues in a successive petition because post-conviction counsel's "failure to act on the witness information provided by Mr. Dixey" was ineffective and resulted in the dismissal of his initial petition. R. 46; see also R. 5-7. The district court failed to address or acknowledge this argument in concluding that Mr. Dixey had not presented sufficient reason to justify a successive petition. Finally, Mr. Dixey's pro se pleadings establish an issue of fact as to whether post-conviction counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to develop and support Mr. Dixey's claim that trial counsel should have corroborated that Mr. Dixey did not own the pickup during September and that the pickup's owner matched the perpetrator's description. Accordingly, the district court erred in dismissing Mr. Dixey's successive petition and this Court should remand the case for further proceedings.

1. Mr. Dixey's claim that trial counsel should have corroborated that he did not own the pickup and that the pickup's owner matched the perpetrator's description was not addressed in the initial post-conviction proceedings

In dismissing Mr. Dixey's petition for failing to present sufficient reason justifying a successive post-conviction action, the district court noted that Mr. Dixey did not include an alibit defense in his original pro se petition for post-conviction relief. R. 103. The district court then

concluded that the issue had been "vaguely" raised in his second amended petition by alleging trial counsel did not ask "him adequate question while he was on the stand to allow him to adequately present his side of the story while testifying." *Id.* The district court noted that Mr. Dixey responded to the State's motion for summary disposition by alleging that trial counsel "cut him off" during his testimony, which prevented him from explaining "to the jury that he wasn't in Blackfoot during the incident on September 29, 2006. R. 103-04, *citing Dixey v. State*, Bingham County Case No. CV -2008-2750, Petitioner's Affidavit in Support of Petitioner's Response to Respondent's Third Motion for Summary Disposition. *Id.* Mr. Dixey wanted to testify "that he had just been placed on misdemeanor probation and was starting school at I.S.U. [and] "didn't have time to run around Blackfoot to be accused of stealing. *Id.* at 104. The district court thus concluded that Mr. Dixey's "alibi evidence was presented in his original post-conviction petition [and] it did not rise to the level of evidence which negated Dixey's ability to be present in at Ogden's Tire Center on September 26, 2006." *Id.*

However, the portion of Mr. Dixey's successive petition discussing an "alibi" does not allege that trial counsel should have allowed him to explain to the jury that he was busy between misdemeanor probation and school. Rather, the "alibi" portion of Mr. Dixey's successive petition alleges that trial counsel failed to investigate and present evidence corroborating that he did not own or drive the primer-grey pickup until October 2006 and establishing that the pickup's previous owner matched the description on the Native American with a ponytail seen at Odgen's Tire in September 2006. R. 5-7.

The issues Mr. Dixey raised in the successive petition concerning the pickup's previous owner were not presented during Mr. Dixey's initial post-conviction action. The district court's

discussion of the related issue concerning Mr. Dixey's direct examination and trial counsel's conduct in preventing him from testifying about court and school activities is only relevant to illustrate post-conviction counsel's ineffective assistance in failing to present the ownership issues and to corroborate Mr. Dixey's allegation he informed trial counsel that he did not own the pickup during September 2006.

2. Mr. Dixey presented an issue of fact concerning whether post-conviction counsel's ineffective assistance presented sufficient reason justifying raising the pickup ownership issues in a successive petition

In his successive petition, Mr. Dixey asserted that he informed post-conviction counsel that trial counsel did not investigate the witnesses provided by Mr. Dixey that could have corroborated the timing of his purchase of the pickup and the physical appearance of the pickup's previous driver. R. 6-7. Mr. Dixey argued that "once provided with the witness information from Mr. Dixey, Post conviction counsel had a duty to investigate and elicit witness statements to prepare a successful petition for post-conviction relief." R. 46. Mr. Dixey argued that post-conviction counsel's "failure to act on the witness information provided by Mr. Dixey" was ineffective and resulted in the dismissal of his initial petition. *Id*.

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