Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-20-2013

Dixey v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40323

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

ARGUMENT

Dixey Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Erred By Summarily Dismissing His Successive Post-Conviction Petition

A. Introduction

The district court dismissed Dixey's successive petition, finding Dixey failed to raise, in his original petition, the issue of whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to gather evidence regarding ownership of the vehicle used in the burglaries and did not show why that issue was not raised in his initial petition for post-conviction relief. (R., p.106.) The district court further found in dismissing Dixey's petition that he had previously raised in his original petition a claim counsel was ineffective in presenting an alibi defense. (Id.) The district court concluded Dixey failed to raise a material issue of fact regarding either issue and granted the state's motion to summarily dismiss Dixey's successive petition for post-conviction relief. (Id.) On appeal, Dixey claims "[t]he issues Mr. Dixey raised in the successive petition concerning the pickup's previous owner were not presented during Mr. Dixey's initial post-conviction action." (Appellant's brief, p.12.) Dixey also asserts that he did present "an issue of fact justifying an evidentiary hearing as to whether post-conviction counsel's ineffective assistance present[ed] sufficient reason to permit litigation the claim in a successive petition" by informing "post-conviction counsel that trial counsel failed to corroborate that he did not own the pickup in question during September 2006 and failed to present evidence that the pickup's previous owner matched the description of the suspect." (Appellant's brief, pp.15-16.) Dixey's arguments are without merit.

B. Standard Of Review

The appellate court exercises free review over the district court's application of the Uniform Post Conviction Procedure Act. Evensiosky v. State, 136 Idaho 189, 190, 30 P.3d 967, 968 (2001). On appeal from summary dismissal of a post-conviction petition, the appellate court reviews the record to determine if a genuine issue of material fact exists, which, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. Matthews v. State, 122 Idaho 801, 807, 839 P.2d 1215, 1221 (1992); Aeschliman v. State, 132 Idaho 397, 403, 973 P.2d 749, 755 (Ct. App. 1999). Appellate courts freely review whether a genuine issue of material fact exists. Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc., 111 Idaho 851, 852, 727 P.2d 1279, 1280 (Ct. App. 1986).

C. <u>Dismissal Of Dixey's Successive Petition For Post-Conviction Relief Was Appropriate</u>

A petition for post-conviction relief initiates a new and independent civil proceeding and the petitioner bears the burden of establishing, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he is entitled to relief. Workman v. State, 144 Idaho 518, 522, 164 P.3d 798, 802 (2007); State v. Bearshield, 104 Idaho 676, 678, 662 P.2d 548, 550 (1983). However, a petition for post-conviction relief differs from a complaint in an ordinary civil action. A petition must contain more than "a short and plain statement of the claim" that would suffice for a complaint. Workman, 144 Idaho at 522, 164 P.3d at 522 (referencing I.R.C.P. 8). The petitioner must submit verified facts within his personal knowledge and produce admissible evidence to support his allegations. Id. (citing I.C. § 19-

4903). Furthermore, the factual showing in a post-conviction relief application must be in the form of evidence that would be admissible at an evidentiary hearing. <u>Drapeau v. State</u>, 103 Idaho 612, 617, 651 P.2d 546, 551 (1982); Cowger v. State, 132 Idaho 681, 684, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999).

Idaho Code § 19-4906 authorizes summary disposition of an application for post-conviction relief when the applicant's evidence has raised no genuine issue of material fact, which if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. Downing v. State, 132 Idaho 861, 863, 979 P.2d 1219, 1221 (Ct. App. 1999); Martinez v. State, 126 Idaho 813, 816, 892 P.2d 488, 491 (Ct. App. 1995). Pursuant to I.C. § 19-4906(c), a district court may dismiss a post-conviction application on the motion of any party when it appears that the applicant is not entitled to relief. Specifically, I.C. § 19-4906(c) provides:

The court may grant a motion by either party for summary disposition of the application when it appears from the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions and agreements of fact, together with any affidavits submitted, that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Applying these principles in this case, the district court summarily dismissed Dixey's petition as being improperly successive. (R., pp.95-106.) Contrary to Dixey's assertions on appeal, a review of the record and the applicable law supports the district court's order of summary dismissal.

Dixey's petition was correctly dismissed on the basis that it failed to satisfy the criteria for a permissible successive petition under the UPCPA. Idaho Code § 19-4908 governs the filing of successive petitions and provides:

Waiver of or failure to assert claims. — All grounds for relief available to an applicant under this act must be raised in his original, supplemental or amended application. Any ground finally adjudicated or not so raised, or knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived in the proceeding that resulted in the conviction or sentence or in any other proceeding the applicant has taken to secure relief may not be the basis for a subsequent application, unless the court finds a ground for relief asserted which for sufficient reason was not asserted or was inadequately raised in the original, supplemental, or amended application.

I.C. § 19-4908. In interpreting this statute, Idaho's appellate courts have held that "[i]neffective assistance of prior post-conviction counsel may provide sufficient reason for permitting newly asserted allegations or allegations inadequately raised in the initial application to be raised in a subsequent post-conviction application." Schwartz v. State, 145 Idaho 186, 189, 177 P.3d 400, 403 (Ct. App. 2008) (footnote omitted) (citing Palmer v. Dermitt, 102 Idaho 591, 596, 635 P.2d 955, 960 (1981); Hernandez v. State, 133 Idaho 794, 798, 992 P.2d 789, 793 (Ct. App. 1999)). To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, however, a post-conviction petitioner must demonstrate both that (a) his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (b) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984).

Although Dixey argues otherwise, a review of the record shows that Dixey had previously raised the issue of his alibi evidence in his first petition for post-conviction relief. Further, Dixey has failed to explain why he did not argue the ownership of the vehicle issue in his first petition. As such, Dixey has failed to

establish a "sufficient reason" to justify the filing of his successive petition in this case.

Dixey raised in his original petition for post-conviction relief the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to present his alibi defense. Subsequent to the *pro se* filing of his original petition, counsel was appointed and filed additional documents, including a second amended petition for post conviction relief which included the claim "Petitioner does not feel like his attorney asked him adequate questions while he was on the stand to allow him to adequately present his side of the story while testifying, nor did she ask the questions that he wanted her to ask the witnesses." (6/19/2013 Augmentation to the Record, Second Amended Post Conviction Petition, p.5.) Also filed was a response to the state's third motion for summary disposition which included the following summary of Dixey's alibi:

In paragraph 9 of Respondent's motion, Respondent states that "Petitioner claims that his counsel did not ask him enough questions at trial." This is an inaccurate statement of Petitioner's allegation. In paragraph 9 of Petitioner's Second Amended Petition, Petitioner states that he "does not feel like his attorney asked him adequate questions while he was on the stand to allow him to adequately present his side of the story while testifying. . .". Petitioner alleges the following facts to show that there is a material question of fact to be resolved by the court at an evidentiary Petitioner responds that Cindy Campbell cut him off during his testimony and instructed him to only answer the questions asked. This prevented him from explaining to the jury that he wasn't in Blackfoot during the incident of September 29, 2006. He wanted to explain to the jury that he had just been placed on misdemeanor probation and was starting school at I.S.U.; that between his court dates, looking for a place to live and looking for a vehicle, he didn't have time to run around Blackfoot to be accused of stealing.

(6/19/2013 Augmentation to the Record, Petitioner's Response to Respondent's Third Motion for Summary Disposition, p.4.) Dixey raised the issue that his counsel was ineffective for failing to raise an alibi defense in his second amended petition for post-conviction relief and specifically addressed the claim in his response to the state's motion for summary disposition through his assertion that counsel failed to allow him to explain to the jury he could not have been present at the location of the first burglary offense because he was busy elsewhere. As such, this claim was raised in Dixey's amended petition for post-conviction relief and cannot now be asserted in a successive petition for post-conviction relief. Even if trial counsel had elicited the testimony detailed above by Dixey, such evidence does not establish an alibi for the September burglary. (See R., p.104.)

Dixey further asserts his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present evidence at trial that he did not own the vehicle in question at the time the first burglary was committed and that the person who did bore a resemblance to himself. (Appellant's brief, pp.11-17.) Dixey does not, however, provide a reason for his failure to include this claim in his initial petition for post-conviction relief. The information of ownership of the grey truck in question and the physical attributes of the person from whom he obtained the vehicle was known to Dixey at the time of the filing of the original petition for post-conviction relief. Dixey provides no reason for his failure to raise this issue in his first petition. In granting the state's motion for summary disposition, the district court found:

Dixey argues that he did not purchase or drive the vehicle, identified at the crime scene, until late October of 2006 and that he gave this information to his trial attorney. Nowhere in Dixey's original petition, the two amendments thereto, or his affidavit in response to the State's motion for summary disposition did Dixie [sic] ever mention trial counsel's alleged failure to raise this issue at trial.

Dixie [sic] knew this information by the conclusion of his August 23, 2007 jury trial. Furthermore, a transcript of the jury trial was filed in his original post-conviction case on October 6, 2009. Thus, prior to Dixey's amended petition and affidavit, his second amended petition and affidavit, and his affidavit in response to the State's motion for summary disposition, Dixey had a full transcript of what happened at his jury trial. The transcript provided concrete proof of the evidence trial counsel did, or did not, elicit.

Dixey gives no reason for his failure to raise the issue in his first post-conviction petition. He does, however, attach the affidavit of Yank Hensley, wherein Mr. Hensley attests that Michael Crumbley used the 1977 grey primer Chevy short box pickup truck on a regular basis in September of 2006. In a separate affidavit, Mr. Hensley testifies that he informed Dixey in mid-October 2006 that the Crumbleys wished to sell their grey Chevy truck. He then testifies that he observed Dixey with the truck on October 26, 2006.

Dixey offers no explanation why this information was not available to him in November of 2008, when he filed his original, pro se post-conviction petition; in November of 2009 when, together with his appointed attorney, he file his amended petition and an affidavit; in May of 2010 when he and his attorney filed his seconded [sic] amended petition and affidavit; or in October of 2010 when he and his attorney responded to the State's motion for summary disposition and filed an affidavit.

(R., pp.104-105 (footnotes omitted).)

The district court correctly dismissed Dixey's petition on the ground that it did not meet the statutory requirements for a permissible successive petition under I.C. § 19-4908 as the record supports the district court's finding that Dixey raised the alibi issue in his first post-conviction relief action, and he failed to establish a sufficient reason why the issue of ownership of the vehicle used in the

commission of the first burglary was not raised in Dixey's original post-conviction relief action, thus failing to make a substantial factual showing as to the ineffectiveness of his post-conviction counsel.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's order summarily dismissing Dixey's successive petition for post-conviction relief.